

STOCKHOLM STOCKHOLMS UNIVERSITY KONSTNÄRLIGA OF THE ARTS HÖGSKOLA

RICGERS EVALUATION by saar rombout

WWW.FEDEC.EU

FEDEC | 2024



TABLE OF CONTENTS

THE PROJECT	3
RIGGERS	3
GOALS	3
EVALUATION	4
STEERING COMMITTEE	4
PARTNERS	5
WHY RIGGERS?	6
ACTIVITIES	7
TIMELINE	8
OUTCOMES	9
MAIN TOPICS	12
Transmission to students Safety protocols and systems of continuous evaluation Equipment management Risk assessment Stress management Student performances/productions Spaces made for or adapted to circus	
INTERVIEWS WITH PARTICIPATING RIGGERS	22
PROFILE OF A CIRCUS SCHOOL RIGGER	26
LOOKING BACK	32
FUTURE OF THE RIGGERS PROJECT	34
CONCLUSION	36
APPENDIX I - QUESTIONNAIRE TO RIGGERS	37
APPENDIX II – STRESS RISK ASSESSMENT	46
APPENDIX III – JOB OFFER/DESCRIPTION ÉSACTO'LIDO	50
APPENDIX IV – JOB OFFER/DESCRIPTION ESAC	52
APPENDIX V – EU COMMISSION OCCUPATION CODE 7215.2.3 HIGH RIGGER	54

RIGGERS EVALUATION

THE PROJECT

TRIGGERS stands for "React, Invent, Get together for a goal: Expertise in Rigging Services". It is a 2-year project co-funded by the Erasmus+ programme of the European Commission and coordinated by SKH (Stockholm University of the Arts) and FEDEC (International Professional Network for Circus Education).

The project is aiming at enhancing the quality of safety measures in circus schools, and to foster the creation of an international community of professionals eager to exchange skills, advice and expertise for actual and future generations.

RIGGERS

Noé Robert Gaston Parraga Søren Flor Nikolay Pyasta Roshan Bhalotra Andy Mitchell Jean-Philippe Dalcourt Pascal Tétreailt **Bilbo Rochettte** Thomas Loriaux Julien Bordais **Thibault Clerc** Will Cleary Johan Bodin Petter Wennardt Fabio Merante Matt Burch **Eero Druus**

ACAPA (NLD) ACAPA (NLD) AFUK (DEN) Codarts (NLD) Codarts (NLD) ENC (CAN) ENC (CAN) ENC (CAN) ENC (CAN) ESAC (BEL) ESACTO'Lido (FRA) ESACTO'Lido (FRA) SKH (SWE) SKH (SWE) SKH (SWE) Circo Vertigo (ITA) NCCA (GBR) Folie (EST)



EVALUATION

This evaluation is written by Saar Rombout, rigger, artist and researcher in the circus field. I am the head of the 30 credits independent course "Introduction to rigging within circus" at SKH. I also teach rigging at the bachelor and master circus programmes of Stockholm University of the Arts (SKH, Sweden) and Codarts Circus Arts (Netherlands). I hold a Master of Fine Arts in Contemporary Circus Practices from SKH, for which I wrote a thesis on "Rope Design and Rigging Design as Artistic Practice".

I have attended most of the project events and I did interviews with the riggers involved, in order to be able to write this evaluation report as complete as possible. I am not an employee of FEDEC or one of the partner schools of the project, I was asked for this project as an external evaluator.

This document is both to summarise what has been discussed during the meetings and exchanges of the riggers, as well as to evaluate the process.



STEERING COMMITTEE

Anna Beentjes	Сс
Anne Mette Norskov	AF
Jorun Kugelberg	SK
Christine Thibaudeau	EN
Isabel Joly	FE
Lorenzo Albiero	FE
Petter Wernardt	SK

Codarts (NLD) AFUK (DEN) SKH (SWE) ENC (CAN) EDEC (BEL) EDEC (BEL) SKH (SWE)

The RIGGERS Steering Committee was in charge of monitoring the implementation of the project activities, as well as its quality and its adherence to the project aims.

PARTNERS

STOCKHOLM|STOCKHOLMS UNIVERSITY **KONSTNÄRLIGA** OF THE ARTS **HÖGSKOLA**

ACADEMY FOR CIRCUS AND PERFORMANCE ART



SKH

Fontys Academy of Circus and ACAPA performance Art Tilburg, the Netherlands

Stockholm University of the Arts

Stockholm, Sweden

AFUK - Akademiet For Utaemmet AFUK Kreativitet Copenhagen, Denmark

codarts rotterdam

MONTRÉAL

ÉNC

ESAC

Codarts Rotterdam Circus CODARTS Codarts Rotteraam Circus Rotterdam, the Netherlands

École nationale de cirque

Montreal, Canada

École supérieure des arts du cirque

Brussels, Belgium



acole suparieure des arts du cirque





CIRCO

Grugliasco, Italy

national centre for circus arts



FEDEC

National Centre for Circus Arts London, United Kingdom



The International Network for **Professional Circus Education is** coordinating the project together with SKH

5

WHY RIGGERS?

In the last 15 years, the circus education sector has grown strongly, in Europe and in the world. In parallel, there is a growing awareness that safety and prevention in the schools must be a priority.

Even though performing in the circus arts is closely linked to a certain representation of danger, artists must learn from an early stage how to manage and control risks. Furthermore, circus arts are evolving, enriched by artistic, aesthetic and technical innovations as well as by industrial and technological developments.

It is crucial that the circus arts education sector stays adequate to this evolution with a set of unique, specific and up-to-date safety and rigging measures.

The RIGGERS project has been developed to answer the needs of riggers in professional circus schools, with the aim of enhancing the quality of safety measures in professional circus schools, but also to create an International Community eager to exchange skills, advice and expertise, that can be transmitted to future generations.



ACTIVITIES



- 2 RIGGERS Seminars: events to meet, share and prepare the cooperation.
- 8 Steering Committee meetings to organise and manage the project.
- Various Riggers Swapping Experiences (RSE) and Riggers Visiting Experiences (RVE): study visits to the partner schools to exchange knowledge, good practices and explore different approaches to safety & rigging. Each RSE/RVE had 4 goals:
 - Explore how safety & rigging issues are managed in a fellow school.
 - Nourish the cooperation on a specific working topic (chosen by the riggers).
 - Develop at least one FED-Talk (video tutorial on a good practice).
 - Raise awareness about the vital role that safety & rigging play in circus schools.
- Partners Meetings and Multiplier Events to manage the project, disseminate the results and give visibility to the sector, in cooperation with major circus festivals (Circus a safer space for danger – MAD festival, Circa, Festival Mondial de Cirque de Demain, Festival Circolo).
- Distance cooperation on Slack (online platform to manage communities) about chosen topics of common interest.

TIMELINE



OUTCOMES

There is an array of outcomes from this project, some are very clear, but many are less tangible. Some of the outcomes are as hoped or better, others could still be improved, I will evaluate this at the LOOKING BACK chapter.

TANGIBLE RESULTS :

A survey on the profession of rigger in circus schools, with a report that suggests possible areas of cooperation and further sustainable actions in view of a stronger professionalisation of the actors operating in this field. This report is freely downloadable from FEDEC website: **RIGGERS Survey Report**

The survey gives a glimpse of the variety of educational backgrounds and career paths of circus school riggers. There was a clear need for support identified, inside the school and among peers. Most of the riggers need support to cope with the challenge of promoting artistic technical progress and development while ensuring a secure environment during the learning paths of the students. Thanks to the survey, detailed and clear data about the profession of circus school rigger in Europe and Canada has been collected, which can serve as a basis for further initiatives and follow up actions.

RIGGERS posters to raise awareness on the role of riggers in circus schools.

The **RIGGERS** virtual platform - a workspace on SLACK has been developed in order to allow for online cooperation and exchange among peers. The platform is organised by channels. One channel is reserved only to RIGGERS partners, while other 3 are open for people who are interested. The platform will later become an open virtual forum dedicated to the sector of safety and rigging in the field of circus. The Slack Workspace has been set up with different channels for different purposes and all project communication being is encouraged to take place there. The use and efficiency of this platform could be improved (see future of the RIGGERS project)

The RIGGERS WhatsApp group

where the riggers involved in the project ask each other advice on problems they run into. They also exchange information on accidents and incidents that happen, so they can all learn from it and prevent more accidents from happening.

The FED-Talks: a series of video tutorials aimed at sharing schools' good practices in safety and rigging with the whole community of circus school riggers in Europe and beyond. The videos, as well as the training materials developed for the tutorials, will remain available after the end of the project and can also be used for rigging education.

Website: A dedicated section on RIGGERS on the FEDEC website.

ALL FED-TALKS CAN BE FOUND ON FEDEC YOUTUBE CHANNEL :



"Dynamic factors: fall with confidence!" Codarts (NLD), NCCA (UK), ESAC (BE), 2023



<u>"Don't do circus as if you are flipping burgers</u> (Basic visual inspections)" ENC (CAN) & Ésacto'Lido (FRA), 2023.



"Creative rigging" ACAPA (NLD), 2023.



<u>"Splicing 4: Securing a splice"</u> ACAPA (NLD), 2024



<u>"From swimming pool to circus school"</u> Circus Marcel, Vliegende Mier circus school (BEL), Circuscentrum (BEL), FEDEC (BEL), 2023.



<u>""Splicing 1: tools"</u> ACAPA (NLD), 2024



"<u>"Splicing 2: Longer bury splice</u>" ACAPA (NLD), 2024



<u>""How to recover a rope"</u> ENC (CAN), 2024



<u>"Splicing 3: splicing a loop"</u> ACAPA (NLD), 2024



Will safety walkthrough SKH (SWE), 2024

INTANGIBLE RESULTS :

- The creation of an international professional community of riggers that among other things can use the Virtual Platform and the WhatsApp group to keep on sharing and exchanging on relevant issues.
- The creation of an international community of institutions committed to raise awareness about the importance of rigging & safety in the circus sector.
- New partnerships in the sector: for example CRITAC and Thomas Loriaux will support riggers when they need engineering knowledge in designing and using new or adapted apparatuses and rigging setups.
- Each partner school had the chance to discover new, innovative practices, to share and consolidate their own,



<u>"Setting up a chapiteau: do it with your students!"</u> Cirko Vertigo (ITA), 2024

and discuss good practices to improve safety conditions in circus schools.

- Sharing of mistakes, accidents or incidents that happened. Riggers could do it in a non-judgemental way, this will help prevent similar things from happening again.
- Raised awareness and recognition in the sector on the profession of rigger in circus school.
- During the first RIGGERS seminar there were discussions with managers of FEDEC schools about 4 topics; being involved, resources, pedagogy and stress management & workload. This created more understanding with the directors and organisation of what the riggers needs are and what sort of things they are dealing with. This can hopefully be converted into more support for the riggers.
- Empowerment of riggers and tech teams to speak up.
- The collaborations with the Festival Circa, Circuscentrum, the Festival Mondial de Cirque de Demain, the festival Sul Filo del Circo and Circus Studio Folie school confirmed the importance of this project and created a greater visibility among other circus professionals, enthusiasts, riggers and schools.

MAIN TOPICS



There were 7 main topics decided by the riggers in the first RIGGERS seminar in April 2022. The discussions, exchanges, workshops and visits about these topics led to the following observations and conclusions.

TRANSMISSION TO STUDENTS

It is important to ensure that everyone in the school has a basic knowledge of rigging, and above all to have, at least, the critical capacity to question, challenge, debate and understand what is going on and the environment in which s/he is working. Safety & rigging basics are not only for students, but also for all staff working in the school.

An important reason for the transmission to students of rigging and safety is post-school preparation. One way of working with this is involving everyone in the security of the space. For example, by:

- Involving both teachers and students in creating risk assessments.
- Involving teachers and students in daily pre-training inspections.
- Instructing students and teachers to inform the rigger(s) if they see something out of place, damaged or different than they are used to. Don't ignore it and raise an alarm.



Teaching is not for everyone; as a school, do you bring in a separate rigging teacher or do you ask the rigger in school to teach rigging? If the rigger is expected to teach, it is important that they get the tools and resources to do this well. For example:

- Training in pedagogy & didactics.
- Specifically allocated time and space.
- Importance of rigging and safety is reflected with ECT's in the curriculum.
- Finding a balance between formal and informal teaching.
- Possibility for repetition, not just once or twice in the school career.
- Clear communication about responsibilities.

SAFETY PROTOCOLS AND SYSTEMS OF CONTINUOUS EVALUATION

Each school has different ways of dealing with safety protocols, some have risk assessments, rescue plans or rules about which crash mat configurations there need to be for certain heights or apparatuses. All partner schools have a thorough yearly or half yearly inspection of all the rigging and safety equipment, besides that there are still weekly or monthly visual inspections.

Safety protocols can be around technical, physical and psychosocial safety, this holistic approach to safety is also what was discussed at the "Circus, a safe(r) space for danger" Conference from the 10th until the 12th of April 2024 in Antwerp, Belgium.

There is no consensus about one fixed way of doing this, but important questions to ask or points to discuss in every school are:

- How are responsibilities regarding safety distributed in the school?
- What are the protocols to prevent incidents/accidents?

- What is the protocol after an incident/accident happens?
- Who has access to the equipment apart from the rigger?
- How does the rigger get informed by students and teachers about things that are out of place, damaged or different than they normally are?
- How to ensure that everyone using the space are aware of the correct
- safety protocols?
- In which way should inclusivity be a part of safety?



EQUIPMENT MANAGEMENT

The tracking, maintenance, renewal and inspection of equipment all play a big role in the job of a circus school rigger. As well as staying up to date with the latest developments in equipment and the creation of new or adjusted apparatuses.

The systems to keep track of equipment range from an excel sheet, free going in & out, software like Papertrail and having a specific person (who is not the rigger) in charge of all the equipment.

ACAPA and SKH are both using a cloud-based software called Papertrail, which uses a QR or a code system. At ACAPA the system has been specifically adapted to the school's needs in collaboration with the company.

The tracking of the equipment, especially for schools having different locations (and scope: production, school, leisure courses), is often not reliable, this could be improved by a system like Papertrail or for example Scannable, where you can check in and out equipment or put things together in a group for a production or a course. The price is per equipment item, so for schools with a lot of equipment it is more expensive, and it takes some time and effort to ensure that all equipment is in the system.

RISK ASSESSMENT

The tracking, maintenance, renewal and inspection of equipment all play a big role in the job of a circus school rigger. As well as staying up to date with the latest developments in equipment and the creation of new or adjusted apparatuses.

The systems to keep track of equipment range from an excel sheet, free going in & out, software like Papertrail and having a specific person (who is not the rigger) in charge of all the equipment.

ACAPA and SKH are both using a cloud-based software called Papertrail, which uses a QR or a code system. At ACAPA the system has been specifically adapted to the school's needs in collaboration with the company.

The tracking of the equipment, especially for schools having different locations (and scope: production, school, leisure courses), is often not reliable, this could be improved by a system like Papertrail or for example Scannable, where you can check in and out equipment or put things together in a group for a production or a course. The price is per equipment item, so for schools with a lot of equipment it is more expensive, and it takes some time and effort to ensure that all equipment is in the system.

			RI	SK MATRIX			
		SEVERITY	1. INSIGNIFICANT	2. MINOR	3. MODERATE	4. MAJOR	5. CATASTROPHI
		People	Slight injury	Minor injury	Major injury/Health effects	Single fatality/ permanent total disability	Multiple fatalities, permanent total disability
CONSE	EQUENCES	Environment	Slight impact	Minor impact	Moderate impact	Major impact	Massive impact
		Asset	Slight damage	Minor damage	Local damage	Mojor damage	Extensive damage
		Reputation	Slight impact	Limited impact	Considerable impact	Major national impact	Major international impact
	E ALMOST CERTAIN	Incident has occurred several times in the company	a		E3	E4	E5
0	D LIKELY	Incident has occurred more than once per year in the company	DI	02	D3	D4	
пкепноор	C POSSIBLE	Incident has occurred in company or more than once in industry world wide	сі		c3	C4	C5
5	B UNLIKELY	Incident has occurred in industry world wide	B1	82	83		85
	A REMOTELY LIKELY TO HAPPEN	Never heard of in industry world wide but could occur	Al		A3	**	AS

Only a few schools have standardized risk assessments and have good systems in place for them to be adjusted to evolving situations. In some countries like the UK, it is very common to work with risk assessments, in others like Germany they are hardly used. It would be good for the development of circus rigging if risk assessments become more common practice for both training and creation times.

STRESS MANAGEMENT

As a circus school rigger your actions can affect the safety and lives of the students and mistakes can be lethal. This brings a lot of responsibility and stress. Often it is not possible for the rigger to share this stress with anyone. Often, the colleagues of the rigger prefer to ignore the risk than face it and hope that the rigger deals with it in a good way. The RIGGERS project gave the riggers of the partner schools the possibility to share their stress and worries, and all found out that they are not alone in this, which seemed to relieve a part of the stress already.

Sometimes pedagogy or productions feel more important than the safety. There is a fatigue with some of the riggers around constantly trying to convince people of the need for safety. The management needs to be aware of how risky is not to consider safety and therefore the riggers priority.

The rigger is invisible most of the time, until something goes wrong. When this happens, all eyes are on the person in charge of safety and rigging. Riggers are often excluded from the rest of the team, which makes them feel isolated. Consequences of risks and mistakes can be a heavy burden on a rigger's shoulders, ones that already happened or the ones that could still happen.

To manage the stress, it is important to consider the working times and available energy. Balancing the tasks, working conditions and workload. If this is not balanced it creates a greater risk.





- Having a plan B (and C)
- Training skills, knowledge and experience
- Shared responsibility
- Understanding from
- Working in a team
- Turning stress positive

Personally, it was interesting to see that the responsibility did not come up as a cause for stress in the discussions among riggers: it is something that seems to be accepted as part of the job. But who takes care of the rigger if something goes wrong? What is the safety net for a rigger? Most of the time there are no safety protocols on the mental effect of being responsible for the rigging and safety in a circus school. It would be important to comprehend what it means to take all that responsibility. How to deal with an accident? How to follow-up? Can we think about a psychological follow-up for riggers? Are there mental health programs that schools could share each other? How to practice the acceptance when a mistake happens?

It is important to create an environment for future circus riggers where stress is acknowledged, where they get help from the organisation to manage the stress and prevent it from overloading. Where they are mentored and trained when they enter the school.

One way to deal with this could be to use a stress management risk assessment for circus and rigging. The Association of British Theatre Technicians (ABTT) launched "Guidance Note W2: Mental health and wellbeing in the workplace - A practical guide to conducting Stress Risk Assessments and creating well-being policies" in November 2022. This document was created and written by Mig Burgess Walsh. A template for this is added in the APPENDIX III.

https://www.abtt.org.uk/product/guidance-note-wl/



STUDENT PERFORMANCES/PRODUCTIONS

Student productions mean a lot of creative input, from students as well as occasionally an outside director. The productions often involve many changes in schedules, locations and ways of working, and most importantly the pressure to perform and the stress that comes with that. Things are tried out in a hurry without overseeing the consequences. All these elements create new and often more or higher risk than in a normal school training situation. Often, needs highlighted by riggers are low on the list of priorities.



In any production, there are many layers happing at the same time. Which roles are filled by who? Is there a producer, director, stage manager, costume designer, sound designer and/or technician, light designer/technician, scenographer, technical director, rigger, prop manager, stagehands, etc. Are there people hired for some of those roles, are they performed by students or teachers, or do they just not happen at all?

At which stage of the production is the rigger/technical team involved? Do they get a say in the planning and/or production, or will they hear about it when everything is decided already? It is important to have discussions between student, teacher and rigger on making changes in the discipline or apparatus and adapting the risk assessment accordingly. How much should the setup of the school change for a student production? Do you go in full theatre/black box mode? Is it still possible to have regular discipline training (also for other years)?

In the end, it is important for a school to have a clear idea of the purpose of the student production and plan the priorities accordingly. It is good to involve the rigger early on in the production planning to make sure important safety issues are not overlooked.

SPACES MADE FOR OR ADAPTED TO CIRCUS

Many schools are currently renovating or changing their training and We should that performing venues. assume the people constructing/renovating the building often do not have a circus perspective. The dimensions of the spaces, such as the corridors or lifts, the heights of the halls, the anchor points in the halls, the disciplines that each hall can accommodate are often not discussed with the riggers, who are not engaged in the discussion with the architects. It is complicated because there are many different and often conflicting interests and there is not often the overlap of knowledge between circus, engineering and architecture. One of the riggers in this project, however, Thomas Loriaux, does have that overlap in expertise and has been involved with the building and adapting different spaces for circus.

During the RVEs and RIGGERS Seminars several different circus spaces were visited, pros and cons were discussed by the riggers, but there is not perfect space. Everywhere you run into different problems for which you have to find creative solutions.







INTERVIEWS WITH PARTICIPATING RIGGERS

Following is a summary of the answers from the riggers to the interview questions, the full answers can be found in APPENDIX I.

• Do you have a job description and if so, what is it?

Most of the riggers involved don't have a very clear job description and list of tasks and responsibilities. Only two have a quite clear description of their job.

• What is your role in the organisation and at what percentage are you employed as a rigger?

There is a big range, some are 100% rigger, others have a percentage that they work as teacher, technical director, pedagogical director or work for other employers as well.

• What problems do you run into, and do you have people to discuss those with?

Main problems:

- Logistics around scheduling, lack of space, time, equipment and budget.
- Unclear responsibilities.
- Security issues not understood by students, teachers and administration.
- Working in grey areas that are not within the standard working regulations.

Most riggers do have people to discuss the problems with.

• Are you taken serious/listened to/included in the organisation?

In general, the riggers feel taken serious and listened to in the organisation.

• In what way do you feel you need support, and can you get that from this group?

Exchanging information and solutions, having discussions and asking questions in the group was very helpful. It is also good to get back up what the riggers already know towards for example the administration of the school. But there are also still some things missing like juridical advice or evolving the sector.

• What did you hope to get out of this project end how do you envision it continuing?

What they hoped to get out of the project was connection with other riggers, exchanging knowledge, experience, problems and solutions, a professional

profile, best practices. To become a rigging and technical advisory group that supports all circus riggers and who meet and talk regularly.

Suggestions for the continuation: rigger masterclasses, more exchanges/job shadowing, creating a guide of good practice.



• What do you feel you have gotten out of the project already? What have you learned during this project?

Making connections with other riggers and recognition that each school must deal with similar problems irrespective of school size. Seeing how other circus schools are organised, build, installed and rigged, and that the level of rigging expertise differs a lot per school. Gaining knowledge that makes the work safer and easier.

• Was the 1:1 exchange more valuable for you or the group exchanges? (Or the combination of both?)

Both were important to the riggers, some said that it is good to start with the group and afterwards the 1:1 exchange.

• How can we extend this to other circus school riggers? And possibly circus riggers not in schools?

It would be good to involve as many schools as possible, this could be done by:

- Creating a best practice guide for training in a circus school to share.
- Managing and using the Slack platform in good way (better than now) could be an efficient way to get other circus school riggers involved.
- Having a space to ask questions, share problem and incidents and talk.
- Organising master classes, training programs and an annual circus rigging symposium, these could also be open to circus riggers who are not involved in circus schools.

In all of this good communication is essential.

• How can we build and improve relationships of trust? (Between riggers, the organisations, teachers, students and each other).

Trust is something you earn and develop, and it depends per person how you do this, but there are some things that could help in the organisation. Like a clear understanding the roles and the riggers responsibilities and set guidelines. "The show must go on, let's make a big show" must change to "No serious accidents in our schools!"

Trust is not the issue, but THRUST is: We need more THRUST to PUSH MORE with bigger budget and communication means on the sector. So that prevention can be made by EXPERTS, paid like EXPERTS to make aerial arts: a "Safety First" activity.

• If there is a RIGGERS II, would you like to participate again?

Most riggers answered yes.

• Other remarks about your experience with the RIGGERS project

This was a helpful initiative and good to be part of it. There is a consensus that now the project has begun, it needs to continue as there is much to develop, share and advocate for. There is a need for consistency, concentration and a clear focus where to go from now on, to make sure the project doesn't fizzle out. The issue of the way we validate risk assessment as the method against problems in the works rather than referring to (and breaking) the rules is something we haven't been able to look into.



In the evaluation session at the end of the project I asked the riggers :

- What have you learned?
- What will you take away from this project?
- How do you see the future?



PROFILE OF A CIRCUS SCHOOL RIGGER

One of the things that was talked about a lot during the gatherings was the profile of a circus school rigger. Often, there is no clear job description in which the responsibilities are laid out. Most riggers at circus schools do more than just rigging, some also teach (circus discipline and/or rigging classes), others do jobs that fit more to the description of a technical director or technical manager of the equipment. To get an overview of this we tried to separate which responsibilities belong to which role. Or at least where the riggers would like those responsibilities to lay. The roles that were looked at where rigger, technical manager of equipment, technical director, teacher (just the rigging related responsibilities) and external/other roles.

As a starting point, we used the description of 2 job offers - from Esacto'Lido and ESAC - and the European ESCO profile of "high rigger" (European Skills, Competences, Qualifications and Occupations: the official European classification of Skills, Competences and Occupations). You can find all these documents in appendix.

To start a drawing was made to look at which parts of the space and equipment are whose responsibility. This was separated into the building, rigging points, rigging equipment, apparatus, student/performer and circus protective equipment.





	RIGGER	TECHNICAL MANAGER OF EQUIPMENT	TECHNICAL DIRECTOR	TEACHER	OTHER
Actions	Assemble, install and dismantle equipment safely	Equipment purchase	Delivery of equipment to various sites	Daily/weekly inspection	Cleaning roof, catwalks etc (?)
	Install fall protection system				
	Working at height	Organisation & storage of equipment			
	Weekly inspection				
	(1/2) Yearly inspection				
	Write incident report	Incident report - Physical & technical	Making sure incident report is made	Write incident report	
	Maintain rigging equipment				
	Work safely with machines				
	Load/unload equipment				
	Execute safety procedures	Execute safety procedures			
	ldentify & report problems	ldentify & report problems	ldentify & report problems	ldentify & report problems	
	Recognise limits of abilities & competences				

	RIGGER	TECHNICAL MANAGER OF EQUIPMENT	TECHNICAL DIRECTOR	TEACHER	OTHER
Management & organization	Rigging layout	Determine inspection schedule	Space organisation	Organisation of student practice and training spaces	Schedule space (Scheduler)
	Calculate/determine loads & forces	Calculate/determine loads & forces	Room layout		Attribute equip- ment to schedule (Scheduler)
		Generate rigging plot	Promote & identify health & safety requirements		Schedule rigging time (Scheduler)
	Be responsible for own safety		Ensure safe work environment		
	Risk assessment – Discipline specific	Risk assessment – Discipline specific	Rescue plan - Discipline specific	Risk assessment – Discipline specific	
	Risk assessment – innovation of equipment	Risk assessment - Productions	Identify access requirements	Risk assessment – innovation of equipment	
	Rescue plan – Technician	Selecting, purchasing & storing equipment	Inventory software		
	Be familiar with safety protocols & standards	Manage equipment inventory	Document/write safety protocols		
	Develop & maintain professional network	Develop & maintain professional network	Develop & maintain professional network	Develop & maintain professional network	
		Monitor equipment loans	Identify organisational chain of command		

	RIGGER	TECHNICAL MANAGER	TECHNICAL DIRECTOR	TEACHER	OTHER
		Undating specialized	Manage professional		
		documents	development		
		Estimate resources,	Understanding		
		time & costs	building safety &		
			engineering		
		Budget management	Budget management		
	Manage professional	Manage professional	Organise		
	development	development	training/education		
		Project management	Production planning		
			Logistics		
			Policy writing		
			Collaborate with other		
			departments		
Creation &	Risk assessment –		Building specs	Risk assessment –	
development	innovation of			innovation of	
	equipment			equipment	
	Innovation/ creativity – R&D		Building – R&D	Innovation/ creativity	
	Innovation/ creativity		Existing rigging points		Innovation/creativity
	- Construction				 Construction (Constructor)
	Product research & selection		New rigging points		

	RIGGER	TECHNICAL MANAGER OF EQUIPMENT	TECHNICAL DIRECTOR	TEACHER	OTHER
	Monitor developments in techniques & standards		Innovation/creativity - R&D		
	Define rigging needs for artistic production		Organise resources for artistic production		
Education	Instruct/oversee correct use of rigging equipment	Provide circus protective equipment		Correct use of apparatus	Design rigging curriculum (Rigging teacher)
	Teaching rigging			Correct use of circus protective equipment	Transmission to students (Rigging teacher)
	(Informal) transmission to students			Approve individual training	
	Installing a feeling a responsibility and ownership of their equipment and looking after each other			Installing a feeling a responsibility and ownership of their equipment and looking after each other	
	Technical advice				
	Prepare students for the outside world			Prepare students for the outside world	

LOOKING BACK

Looking back at the goals and assessing if they have been met:



• ENHANCING THE QUALITY OF SAFETY MEASURES IN CIRCUS SCHOOLS.

I think this project had a safety enhancing effect on the partner schools, but this did not radiate outward to many other circus schools yet. There were some other schools that got involved along the way so they got some benefits from this as well.

• SHARING BEST PRACTICES.

Best practices were shared again between the partner schools in informal way, but there are still steps to be made to make this sharable with other schools and riggers. Since there are no set rules about circus rigging it would be good to create a set of guidelines around best practices in circus rigging, written by a working group with input from many different circus riggers.



• SEEKING TAILORED SOLUTIONS TO COMMON ISSUES ..



A lot of common issues were identified (some technical, others with the management of the schools or stress). For some there were solutions, for others like the stress it already made a big difference to share them between the riggers, and for them to find out that they were not alone in this. There is more work to be done to create an environment where safety is a shared responsibility and all people in the organisation are aware of how to deal with the risks involved in training, creating and performing circus.

• DEVELOPING AN INTERNATIONAL COMMUNITY OF CIRCUS SCHOOL RIGGERS.

From my perspective there is a big difference in the amount of trust there is in the group between the first RIGGERS seminar in Stockholm to now. It started out with a group of individuals who seemed to feel like they had to fight for everything on their own to achieve a safe school and who had to hide their questions and mistakes. Now there is a community who trust and support each other and where there is space to ask questions, discuss problems and develop new solutions.



The community has started to build but it needs to be nourished to make sure the little flame doesn't die out. It can continue to grow for example by better communication and more effective use of the bigger slack community and by organising for example a yearly circus riggers symposium

• PROFESSIONALIZING THE SECTOR.



In professionalizing the sector there is the most to be gained; Some points where the sector could professionalize further is in education, the education of future circus riggers as well as the rigging education of circus artists. Another important point to look at is that the rules and safety standards in other overlapping fields like theatre, performing arts and gymnastics are developing more and more. in some cases they have an effect on circus, about how and where you are allowed to perform or train circus. To make sure these regulations don't prevent us from doing circus it is important to organise a group of representatives from the circus and rigging field who can advocate for the needs of the artform.

A lot has been done and exchanged in the two years of this project, but of course not everything only went smoothly. In the beginning of this project some of the riggers felt like things were decided for them and that they didn't get a say in how the project would run. This changed over time and by the end the riggers seemed to feel more ownership over the project.

Another point that was a struggle in the beginning were the FED-Talks in combination with the exchanges. It was agreed that the FED-Talks in themselves were a good idea, but it was a lot of work to write, film and direct them so there was not much time left for the exchange itself. Some of the FED-Talks have eventually been made outside of the exchanges.

After the first year and the first round of 1:1 exchanges there was an evaluation during the 2nd RIGGERS Seminar in Montpellier, France. One of the things that the riggers decided was to change the RSE (Riggers Swapping Experiences), where the riggers of two schools exchange and visit each other's school, to RVE (Riggers Visiting Experiences) where a group of riggers all went to visit one school at the same time.

It was decided to do one visit to ENC in Montreal, Canada. For the other visit, the three schools in the BENELUX (CODARTS, ACAPA and ESAC) were grouped together, since they are so close together it was possible to see all three in one week.

FUTURE OF THE RIGGERS PROJECT

Following is a collection of suggestions of how this project can and/or will continue after the funding for the RIGGERS project has finished. For any continuation it is very important that the riggers are involved in deciding how things go.



By making the connections between the riggers and starting to build a network between them, there is an inherent continuation in that the riggers in the different involved circus schools are not as isolated anymore. They have regular contact with each other over slack and through the What's App group to ask each other advice on problems they run into. It would be good to nourish this network and the connections by organising some gatherings to see each other in person.

Since this project was received so well, an application for a follow up ERASMUS+ project has been written with the input from the riggers. This follow up project is called "Every knot matters" and its aim is to further professionalise the sector of rigging & safety in circus education, focussing on the future of the profession. For example, by training the participants in teaching methodologies, creating more FED-Talk videos as well as FED-Tips (practical guides) on the topic of safety & rigging in circus arts. Furthermore, the project will also work on creating a rigger's career path (by drafting a competence profile) and on enhancing the community, by improving the existing virtual platform and by including riggers from the youth sector and smaller professional schools.

The platforms that have been used for communication and information sharing; Slack, WhatsApp, Facebook, Instagram and the FEDEC website, can continue to be used. A workshop in Slack use, can be one way to improve the effectiveness of the platform.



34

- Exchanging information on mistakes, accidents and incidents that happen, to learn from each other and prevent more accidents from happening.
- Exchange and develop the rigging curriculum in the different schools. It is crucial that the circus arts education sector stays adequate to this evolution with a set of unique, specific, and up-to-date safety and rigging measures.
- There are two schools; ACAPA and SKH where there is a more extensive rigging education of a full semester for some students. Those students need to do internships to get more on the job experience. It has been discussed that those internships could maybe be during productions or inspections of other schools.
- A depository of training courses addressed to circus school rigger could be a useful tool for both newcomers to the profession and experienced riggers looking for up-to-date tools and competences.
- During the inspection weeks in different schools there are often extra hands needed. There are possibilities to invite a rigger from another school to help with the inspections as an exchange.
- An annual Circus Rigging meeting/ symposium. This could partly be online.
- Forming a working group to talk about and be representative for safety standards in circus (school) rigging.
- Forming a working group to write codes/guidelines for best practice.
- Forming a working group to develop a common glossary of rigging terms, in all languages of the project partners.
- Competence development through masterclasses between riggers.
- In most of the schools who were partners in the RIGGERS project risk assessments are often used, but this is not the case for all circus education. For example, in Germany risk assessments are not common at all. A risk assessment is a very good tool analyse the risk involved and mitigate it where needed. Spreading knowledge on how to make and use risk assessments for circus school and circus companies would be very valuable.
- Creating a competence profile for a circus school rigger.

CONCLUSION

There was a clear need for this project with the developments in circus and rigging that have been happening over the last 15 years. Also to address the isolation of circus school riggers, to create a network for them to be able to share problems & solutions, ask questions and find support for their stress management. This project was a good start, but there is space to develop it further and a need to nourish and extend the network that has been build. A group has really formed compared to the first gathering.



There is a desire for a set of guidelines of best practices, which will be a very big job to collect and write. Besides that, there is necessity to have a group of representa-tives of circus rigging in the European field to make sure safety standards for theatre, performing arts or gymnastic don't prevent us from doing circus.

Another reoccurring theme was "being involved". There have been many discussions on why it is important for circus school riggers to have input in decision making about new buildings, to be involved from the beginning in the production planning and performances. To be involved or consulted when the program changes. There is a need to reevaluate the importance of the role of the rigger and that the management of the schools recognise what their needs are, technical, organisational and mental needs.

In the end it is important to create an environment where safety is a shared responsibility and all people in the organisation are aware of how to deal with the risks involved in training, creating and performing circus.
APPENDIX I – QUESTIONNAIRE TO RIGGERS

- AM: Andrew Michell ENC
- ED: Eero Druus Folie
- FM: Fabio Merante Cirko Vertigo
- JoB: Johan Bodin SKH
- JuB: Julien Bordais ESACTO LIDO
- NP: Nikolay Pyasta CODARTS
- TL: Thomas Loriaux ESAC
- WC: Will Cleary SKH

• Do you have a job description and if so, what is it?

- AM Head rigger and all that involves.
- ED I Am rigger in Circus Studio "Folie" I do aerial rigging in two small spaces 9x20 h 5,5m, also make rigging for all city camp, summer camps. In case of performances, I will make rigging in theatres, other spaces also in outdoor events - to the trees or truss construction or... I teach acrobatics as well - hand to hand, handstand, banquine. I work as a freelancer rigger in some events, festivals, stunt works, sometimes as event rigger when extra help is needed.
- FM In our school there's not a job description at the moment for the rigger, our head riggers that are employed have his contract as Audio Technician because it's the most similar things for the law. In this month our school and an organisation of riggers are working on a job description for a rigger's freelance education for our region because they ask for it to have clear what kind of work and experience the people need to do the job for the show's reality. But still not include the school reality this one for the moment.
- JoB Production technician, Circus rigger (EU commission occupation code 7215.2.3 High rigger that includes circus rigging) <u>https://esco.ec.europa.eu/en/classification/occupation?</u> <u>uri=http://data.europa.eu/esco/occupation/19cb84ca-952e-4f33-b31a-</u> <u>c918db074a6e</u>
- JuB Yes, I have it, the file is attached.
- NP We have a short and unclear one. It needs to be updated.
- TL Me or based on my job NO
 Don't need to and quite impossible when it comes to my real work and functions.
 Regarding ESAC: Easy: teacher in the subject of "Safety at Height and Acrobatic Rigging"
- WC No

• What is your role in the organisation and at what percentage are you employed as a rigger?

- AM 100 % Head Rigger
- ED I guess it is 60% rigging and 40% as a coach.
- FM My role in the school it's as assistant of the pedagogical director, teacher and coordinator for the creations of the University helping all the part (students, teachers, pedagogical, riggers, audio, lights, productions, diffusions, etc...) so I talk a lot with all the technical staff this year.
- JoB 100 % but do many things that are not rigging. Rigging, planning, electric/signal cable management, sometimes help the janitor, look after circus equipment, move big circus equipment etc.
- JuB Technical director, 15% as a rigger
- NP Head rigger

TL 0%

WC 100% Rigger

• What problems do you run into, and do you have people to discuss those with?

- AM Scheduling time in the studios to do our work. My boss the technical director
- ED No big problems in aerial trainings the aerial coach is young professional artist and have knowledge of rigging. In show time - there is mostly little problem with rehearsal time: to make lighting, then run-through, and performance - sometimes it to intensive for youngsters. Also, height in other spaces (our space is 5,5m), rigging point might be too high - so the ring, or tissue, or ... can swing too much and the feeling is different. If there is more space to climb up, then young artist can get tired - then we make act simpler. Always I tell artists that you have to know your limits and no problem if you finish the act earlier. It doesn't usually happen, but it's good for them to remember it.

Yes, I always talk about problems to the aerial coach and boss, and technical advice or confirmation that I am doing the right thing-I can ask from a stunt company, rope access company or other technical director of theatre or

- FM The main problem in the school for the riggers it's that our head rigger it's divided between the academy and the centre of production and most of the time it's work on the production and residencies and less on the School, most of the problem is based on that and on the organisation to make all the things done good and safe in more spaces, and without having all the time the possibility to change things in a short period of time.
- JoB What is the job description for the two riggers positions? How to shop abroad when you don't get a company debit card? Are our catwalks legal today? Is our landlord telling us things that are wrong? How much rigging should students be allowed to do themselves on evenings etc.

To find times when the studios are not used so rigging can be done. Can discuss some of it with colleagues, friends etc but hard to find good advice.

JuB We are running out of time and budget.

Spaces are not available to carry out assembly safely. Security issues are not always understood by students, teachers and administration.

- NP There are too many opinions, which can be a problem. I have a pool of people to whom I can speak about the topic.
- TL Pedagogical issues logistic issues related to the spaces, the equipment needed for the lessons.

=> and do you have people to discuss those with? Yes - mainly the TD.

WC Lack of non-rigger colleague competence and knowledge about circus in 2024, rigging, risk, consequence, the grey areas where we do things that are not within the standard working regulations.

• Are you taken serious/listened to/included in the organisation?

- AM Yes
- ED Yes
- FM I can say yes, more and more after this project and we try more and more to connect all the part of the organisation, have meetings in advance to let each one explain their needs. We are going to build one or 2 new spaces in the next years, so the Riggers are really taken in count, and I've been involved in sharing the knowledge that I got and the discussions where I've been involved in in the experiences during the riggers project. The Head riggers and I are organising to progressively change the rigging systems of the school with the set up that I saw in the other schools to have the systems.
- JoB Yes, most of the time.
- JuB Yes
- NP Yes
- TL Yes
- WC Sometimes, locally yes within the whole organisation no.

• In what way do you feel you need support, and can you get that from this group?

- ED Yes, there are a lot of questions but during this project and being in those conversations, many Q-s have been answered. I have also received answers specially related to my work, also answers to some little details and where to find some sites or knowledge.
- FM I think that a big support was sharing the knowledge and see what other schools are doing. It has made a real change to have a community where you know that you can ask about and share problems or solutions. One other thing that I think that will help in the future is to have a base job description that we can use and help the ministry to accept it (if it's done by a community of riggers around Europe it will be easily accepted, I think.

- JoB Wish for a lawyer to give advice and update us on new rules that we don't hear about.
- JuB Information sharing, solution sharing
- NP Best practices and transmission to the students and teachers.
- TL Making the sector evolving => and can you get that from this group? No
- WC Simple example we discussed not using the twisting belt use for swinging trapeze – then I have some support when I tell my teacher 'No, you can't use the belt as a sole primary safety because it's not safe'. Yes, you can use it for something where it's not the only safety – like if you have a mat. It would be very good to develop a best practice because it supports us from the 'push back' we get from people who don't want to change or learn.
 - What did you hope to get out of this project end how do you envision it continuing?
- AM I intended to have contact with other riggers in the trade. I hope to continue to have this resource of Circus school riggers.
- ED I hoped to see what work is like in other schools, to meet and hear the experiences and knowledge of other riggers,

This project must definitely continue. How? I think we need to discuss together and find the main goal and direction to move.

For me personally is interesting:

Practical work in circus school, like job shadowing or 1:1 exchange Riggers courses or workshops - can be separated to parts like, calculations, materials, rigging systems, safety mats, inspection.

FM I hope that this project can arrive to concretize one or more profession profile that we are now starting to get into something clearer, to continue all the sharing process between the group that help to understand better what other reality do or with problem and solutions they had to relate to, and maybe arrive to create in a moment some kind of «best practice» that also the new generation as me can go and see.

I hope that we can arrive also to have minimum knowledge transmission to students because it's something that can help not only the riggers that teach but also the pedagical part of the school, in our school for sure this.

- JoB I hoped for a lot of new knowledge through a report or something from FEDEC. I would like to measure the bounce in different types of rigs to see what is best for fast learning and I would like to look at cheap ways to get rigs without bounce but still use climbing gear.
- JuB I hope that we will be able to make a guide to good practices, perhaps in a second shape.
- NP I'm hoping that, aside from chatting with the group and getting to know the riggers, we are becoming an organization with a supporting institution that stays behind to support all circus riggers.
- TL Having made a step for the group in understanding better some issues of
- WC the branch/sector => and how do you envision it continuing? Nothing -

Doing what I do for more than 25y : Pedagogy + Expertise + Communication

WC I hoped we could establish a cohesive group who can meet and talk on a regular basis – I think we should be the rigging and technical adviser group to FEDEC.

Then we would have the mandate for further meetings. Currently with the bad financial climate, I can see that organisations will not prioritise this kind of thing, but I think it is invaluable – because we can learn so much from each other to make things easier and safer.

• What do you feel you have gotten out of the project already? What have you learned during this project?

- AM Connection with other riggers
- ED I have seen a lot of professional circus schools now how they are organized, how built, how installed and rigged. I have gained a lot of knowledge that make my work easier and safer. I think the main goal is the same for all and good to know that my way is not so different.
- FM The Head riggers and I are organising to progressively change the rigging systems of the school with the setting that I saw in the other schools, it will take a bit of time for the budget, but I twill help a lot of students, school incoming having systems that are more similar to the one in other schools. I got a lot on knowledge of the profession, of the way to do things that I'm sure it will help our school in more ways, from the how to do a static trapeze pulley system to how to organise construction of a new building, for example. For sure I will get others on other moments of this project and in the future.

Discussions about problems during creation processes that some schools shared helped me a lot on the task that I have this year in the school on how to try to involve all the parts in the creation process (students, teachers, staff, riggers, etc.)

- JoB Very nice to learn some from other universities. I have learned much more about Fedec.
- JuB I learned that the problems were the same for everyone, despite the differences between schools.
- NP Plenty of practical examples. Recognition of the same problems and selfesteem.
- TL Nothing particular

=> What have you learned during this project? The poor level of the rigging expertise in (some of) our "superior" circus schools.

WC So much, mainly from the group visits to Canada and Benelux – the opportunity to visit schools and talk about work and approaches we take. It's such a learning curve I think – even though I have 30+ years' experience, it's all in my small bubble of colleagues so to share with other riggers is very important.

- Was the 1:1 exchange more valuable for you or the group exchanges? (Or the combination of both?)
- AM I think the 1 to 1 exchanges were more valuable for my team.
- ED I think both is needed practical work in specific place and round table discussion with all riggers.
- FM I think that both have a reason to exist, but I think that I get the most in the group exchanges. If there would be first a group one and after the 1:1 I think I could have gotten even more from the 1:1 exchanges.
- JoB 1:1 N/A But the group exchange gave me some understanding of other universities.
- JuB The group exchange was more valuable.
- NP The group exchange has greater value.
- TL Not particularly
- WC Group, we need to meet to forge relationships but also to become a working group – otherwise were just still in our small bubbles. Maybe I would have liked to do a 1:1 exchange, but it wasn't really possible. I can see the benefit – but I would say that its more important to build a 'group' anyway.

• How can we extend this to other circus school riggers? And possibly circus riggers not in schools?

- AM I think we should open this project to as many schools as possible. In my opinion this project is for circus school riggers only and not riggers outside of this specific job
- ED To make some booklet or handbook like ENC and CRITAC, "Conception et Fabrication". Translate to English - Guide d'aménagements des spaces de formation et des équipements circassiens. Folie can talk with our friends in circus schools and with artists.
- FM II think that managing in a good way the Slack platform can be a super community where other circus school riggers can be involved. Having a space to ask, share and talk, as an annual seminar in presence that can have workshops for all the circus school riggers.
- JoB Try to attract CNAC to a project and then gather information from different schools in a report/manual.
- JuB Workshops?
- NP It remains an unanswered question for me until we know where we are going.
- TL Pedagogy (master classes training programs) + Expertise (being personally involved in some technical issues or projects) + Communication.
 => And possibly circus riggers not in schools? Pedagogy (master classes training programs) + Expertise being personally involved in some technical issues or projects) + Communication.
- WC I think it's good to do that to be able to meet and discuss, the first would be a 'general circus riggers meeting' but I also think it's important to have the circus riggers in schools in a group talking about the things that are important to them as well, its two different things, best practice for general training in a

school is much easier I think to discuss – in a performance situation there are more variables, I guess that also goes for performances in a school, so in that sense there is possibility to extend this conversation. I think we should focus on the general training in a school before its extended out though.

- How can we build and improve relationships of trust? (Between riggers, the organisations, teachers, students and each other).
- AM Good question, trust is something you earn and develop over your career. It depends on the individual how they develop this. As head rigger I believe it is essential to have a relationship with my team based on mutual trust. Without it we can achieve nothing
- ED In our small school I hope it is already ok. I can't say for others, but maybe there needs to be some clear rules, and everybody needs to understand the riggers' job responsibilities. I hope it is not too big a problem and the rigger also has the right to say no if he sees a danger or problem.
- FM For my external view I think that clarifying what really do the rigger or which multiple role a person has it help each other to know better how much is important and in when to ask his involvement... and after to have more meetings between all the parts together to really have the possibility to share, to improve things together, and having different prospective it will help to get to solutions and positive ambiance easily.
- JoB "The show must go on, let's make a big show" must be changed for "No serious accidents in our schools".
- JuB Make a guide to good practices to share to be taken seriously.
- NP To have a set of guidelines that we have all agreed upon.
- TL For me trust is not the issue, or at least the false self-confidence of some riggers is an issue. For me thrust is the issue, meaning:
 - In a sector where every 3 years in average you start from scratch with new people, less knowledge and a base of amateurs in inflation
 - In a sector where the "democratisation" of aerial circus art will ALWAY go faster than any group of experts trying to communicate.
 - In a sector where the SOCIAL MEDIA will ALWAYS go faster than any group of experts trying to communicate
 - In a sector where the NATIONAL STATES pay no attention to this (relatively small) accident logical phenomena...

We need more THRUST to PUSH MORE with bigger budget and communication means on the sector. So that prevention can be made by EXPERTS, paid like EXPERTS to do make aerial arts: a "Safety First" activity.

So, in other words:

> How can we build and improve relationships of trust? - More accidents. Tactic one: Many accidents everywhere but not deadly - so that people are more afraid.

Tactic two: One or Two deadly accident - so that people are more afraid.

Actually, we have them - 1 dead every 4 months.... and the awareness is not there.

WOKE is good - but AWASA should be good to = AWARE of SAFETY Now that "Performance" is everything,

People will take the risk of dying live on SNAP or TIKTOK for their "15 minutes of fame".

"In the future, everyone will (take any risk to) be world-famous for 15 minutes." <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Ewl8exgZcTE</u>

https://twitter.com/diet_chola/status/1728778456186446173 https://twitter.com/i/status/1728778456186446173

Look at this:

<u>https://www.facebook.com/photo/?</u> <u>fbid=785608490236004&set=a.132525948877598</u> Ecole Nationale de Cirque de Châtellerault - WTF

Clearly, we should protect ourselves with different words/names, Like for Olympic Gymnastics for example and crazy acrobatics of people injured on the beach.

Different concepts, different names, you will not blame "Gymnastic" for people doing crazy stuff outdoors everywhere.

But for "Professional Aerial Acrobatics" it's too late - everything is aerial now. FEDERATIONS need more THRUST.

WC More chance to meet together. It would be nice to bring a student to visit another school, maybe it's an idea to hold a rigging gathering of students and teachers who are interested in rigging and school riggers and other circus riggers – that might be a nice project. I think it was something that got missed when FEDEC did their projects on the disciplines to develop the FEDEC manuals – for example.

• If there is a RIGGERS II, would you like to participate again?

- AM Not 100% sure. I think RIGGERS is extremely important for riggers who feel alone in their job. I have a big team to work with and a large network of riggers around the world who I am able to call on.
- ED Yes of course!
- FM I really enjoy this one and I get a lot from it so yes, I will participate if there's going to be a RIGGERS II
- JoB Yes, please.
- JuB It depends on the content.
- NP Yes
- TL YES Master classes please
- WC Yes and I would like to influence what that could be, I think it should be the participants of RIGGERS I who have the main influence, otherwise it will become something to serve another agenda then it's not RIGGERS 2, it's something else.

• Other remarks about your experience with the RIGGERS project.

- AM It was fun. Thanks
- ED I am very grateful that I could participate in the Feder project RIGGERS and I thank all the participants and Lorenzo.
- JuB It was nice!
- NP It is a very helpful initiative. But, at least to me, it is becoming unclear where we are going to go.
- TL Inconsistent in a way, I would have hoped more concentration of Intensityand knowledge/ time.

It was too "meeting" and "tourism discovery" oriented

WC It feels like it's just the beginning and its quite a fragile group, we have the possibility to learn and develop this and continue to meet to discuss in some capacity (online for example) but also it can fizzle out – to me then the project will have failed if we don't continue to talk – the WhatsApp and slack are a bit of an issue – I wish we had made regular zoom meetings as well to solidify the group – maybe I try to do that in the future

APPENDIX II – STRESS RISK ASSESSMENT

EXAMPLE STRESS RISK ASSESSMENT

Optional Insert company logo here



Setting the Scene

Include information about your theatre:

Inlcude information about your staff and working patterns

We know from industry based research that the prevalence of mental health condidtions is high within our industry.

Our backstage teams do not follow conventional patterns of work like the majority of work forces, working evenings, weekends and often over nights.

We wanted to promote the well fare of our staff and work towards a cultural change towards mental health and well-being in the work place. This prompted us to begin to conduct risk assessments for stress in the work place.

When we refer to Heads of Department (HOD's) we mean Head of lighting, Sound, Stage, Video. When we refer to technicians (Techs) we mean deputy levels, senior technician levels and other technical roles.

How the Risk Assessment was done

To identfiy the hazards:

 The manager followed guidance from the ABTT's Guidance Note W2: Mental Health and Well-being in the workplace. This Guidance Note uses information from the HSE's working minds campaign looking at stress in the workplace, and is informed by the Alliance of Associations and Professionals in Theatre and Live Events (AAPTLE) industry well-being study from 2021

1

2

- · The manager talked to members of staff to listen to their concerns and opinions about stress in the workplace
- · The people who could be harmed by the hazards were written down

To create the Risk Assessment:

- Existing controls were written down and logged
- · Where more controls were felt to be needed these were also logged
- A stress risk assessment was created
- · The findings were discussed with staff and the risk assessment distributed

To implement the control measures:

- All exisiting controls and further control measures were implemented and recorded as having been done.
- An effective way of communicating this to all staff was agreed
- It was agreed to review this each year or when any major changes happened in the work place.

WORK RELATED STRESS RISK ASSESSMENT

insert business or venue name

Date: Insert date

Hazards	Risks	Who is harmed?	What are you doing all ready?	Further Action?	Actioned by who?	Date
Demands	Short staffed / inadequate staffing levels					
Workload, work patterns & work enviroment	Acting up into more senior roles	HOD's & Techs				
	Insufficent resources to work	HOD's				
	Out of hours working	HODS's				
	Long Hours	HOD's & Techs				
	Tight deadlines	HOD's & Techs				
	Inadequate rest and holidays	HOD's & Techs				
	Enviromental factors – Heat / Cold	HOD's & Techs				
	Responsible for people management	HOD's				
	Complex decisions made regularly	HOD's				
	Working from home / isolation	HOD's & Techs				

WORK RELATED STRESS RISK ASSESSMENT

insert business or venue name

Date:	nsert date	

Hazards	Risks	Who is harmed?	What are you doing all ready?	Further Action?	Actioned by who?	Date
Control How much say the person has in the way they do	Poor communication with staff between general managers / techical managers and backstage technical staff					
their work	Staff don't feel they are listened too					
	Inflexible work schedules / control of work schedules – time off for appointments leisure activities?					
	Development opportunities					
	Work Life balance					
	No control over being asked to work late, requests to change rotas short notice					

3

4

WORK RELATED STRESS RISK ASSESSMENT

insert business or venue name

Hazards	Risks	Who is harmed?	What are you doing all ready?	Further Action?	Actioned by who?	Date
Support Encouragement,	No encouragement to be vigilant in spotting the signs of work based stress					
sponsorship & resources available to	Staff can't talk to managers about mental health and stress					
workers	No sign posting for support witth mental health and well-being issues					
	Staff aren't supported in returning to work					
	No further training to support mental health and well-being					
	Previous history of work related stress / mental health condition.					
	Identifying and supporting high risk people: bereavement, divorce, mental health diagnosis etc					
	Untrained line managers / lack of support for line managers					
	Not feelng supported across all job roles including managers and senior roles					

WORK RELATED STRESS RISK ASSESSMENT

insert business or venue name

Date: Insert date

Hazards	Risks	Who is harmed?	What are you doing all ready?	Further Action?	Actioned by who?	Date
Relationships Promoting	Poor Line management relationships					
positive working to avoid conflict and dealing with unacceptable	Poor working relationships					
behaviour	Bullying and harrassment					
	Blame culture					
	Sexual / racial harrassment					
	Working with the public and dealng with complaints					

5

6

WORK RELATED STRESS RISK ASSESSMENT

insert business or venue name

Date: Insert date

Hazards	Risks	Who is harmed?	What are you doing all ready?	Further Action?	Actioned by who?	Date
Role Understanding their role within the organisation, and ensuring no	Job roles arent defined and additional duties are often added to peoples roles. Over worked, understaffed, acting up into higher roles.					
conflicting roles	Lone working					
	Under staffed.					
	Poor staff retention and recruitment					
	Redundancy					
	Lack of definition of organisational goals					
	No support / training, skills development					
	Workers don't feel valued in the work place					

WORK RELATED STRESS RISK ASSESSMENT

insert business or venue name

Date: Insert date

Hazards	Risks	Who is harmed?	What are you doing all ready?	Further Action?	Actioned by who?	Date
Change	Poor communication of work place changes					
How change is managed and counicated	Lack of monitoring of the changes for effects to workers and stress levels.					
	No feedback structure					
	Managing new large projects / shows					
	Line manager dealing with redundancies					

7

APPENDIX III – JOB OFFER/ DESCRIPTION ÉSACTO'LIDO

FICHE DE POSTE RÉGISSEUR.SE AGRÈS

ÉsacTo' École supérieure DES ARTS DU CIROUE TOULOUSE OCCITANIE

Reconnue internationalement, l'école supérieure des arts du cirque Toulouse-Occitanie (Ésacto'Lido) est une des trois écoles en France habilitée à délivrer le diplôme national supérieur professionnel d'artiste de cirque (DNSPac). Aux côtés de la formation supérieure, l'école propose divers modules de professionnalisation destinés aux jeunes artistes souhaitant être accompagnés dans la structuration de leur projet artistique. Dans cette dynamique, l'école a engagé une réflexion sur la formation continue en partenariat avec les acteurs régionaux. L'Ésacto'Lido développe également un programme de recherche sur la pédagogie et l'enseignement des arts du cirque en partenariat avec des universitaires, des artistes et des acteurs professionnels du réseau circassien. L'Ésacto'Lido est une école supérieure d'art soutenue par la Métropole de Toulouse, la DRAC Occitanie, la ville de Toulouse, la région Occitanie le programme Erasmus+.

MISSIONS

Le régisseur / la régisseuse agrès participe à la conception et la mise en oeuvre de dispositifs techniques nécessaires aux activités quotidiennes et aux activités connexes qu'il / elle coordonne : bon déroulement des cours, des entrainements, des répétitions et des représentations de spectacles de l'ESACTO. Sa mission consiste à :

ASSURER LA RÉGIE AGRÈS DE L'ÉTABLISSEMENT :

- Participation à l'organisation du service technique et son évolution, notamment afin de renforcer la sécurité des installations, équipements et espaces de travail.
- Veille au respect des conditions d'utilisation du matériel, à l'application des normes de sécurité par les utilisateurs et le personnel (dont normes ERP et Code du Travail).
- Encadrement des étudiants et du personnel (permanent, intervenant, stagiaire ou autres) dans le cadre des opérations techniques sous sa supervision.
- Planification, mise en oeuvre, réalisation et contrôle des opérations d'accroches.
- Montage, contrôle et démontage du matériel, des équipements de sécurité et des agrès.
- Accompagnement des étudiants dans leur démarche de recherche et dans leur apprentissage lié à l'utilisation du matériel, des équipements de sécurité et des agrès.

GÉRER LE MATÉRIEL ET L'ÉQUIPEMENT :

- Définition et anticipation des besoins en matériel, équipements de sécurité et agrès, organisation du conditionnement du matériel.
- Suivi de l'inventaire, du marquage, de l'entretien et des vérifications périodiques des équipements de sécurité et des agrès.
- Suivi des prêts de matériel.
- Organisation des espaces de pratique et d'entraînement des étudiants.
- Livraison du matériel sur les différents sites utilisés par l'école (lieu de cours, d'entrainements ou de spectacle)
- Assistance du Directeur technique dans le suivi budgétaire des besoins et gestions des achats de matériel.
- Veille sur l'évolution des techniques et normes, mise à jour des documents techniques spécialisés.

PROFIL ET COMPÉTENCE

- CACES 1A, 3B souhaité.
- Permis B
- Habilitation et qualification pour le travail en hauteur souhaitées.
- Expériences avérées en matière d'accroches.
- Excellente connaissance des caractéristiques techniques du matériel spécialisé (matériel d'accroche, agrès de cirque, équipement de sécurité).
- Maîtrise des normes de sécurité applicables (bâtiment, matériel) et notamment celles spécifiques aux activités circaciennes.
- Connaissance des règles de sécurité pour l'utilisation des EPI.
- Capacité à encadrer des étudiants / une équipe. Gout pour la pédagogie et la transmission.
- Connaissance des logiciels de bureautique souhaitée (Excel, Word).

CONDITIONS

- CDD de 6 mois, 35 heures par semaines.
- Rémunération groupe 5, selon grille salariale syndeac, échelon selon expérience.
- Expérience souhaitée
- Horaires parfois irréguliers (en soirée et en week-end), déplacements ponctuels
- Prise de poste prévue le 1 novembre 2021
- Lieu de travail : Le Lido, 14 rue de Gaillac, 31500 Toulouse

CANDIDATURE

Envoyez votre candidature, lettre de motivation et CV, au plus tard avant le 17 octobre 2021 par mail à administration@esactolido.com (copie à regie@esactolido.com). Entretiens prévus le 19 octobre 2021.

APPENDIX IV – JOB OFFER/ DESCRIPTION ESAC

OFFRE D'EMPLOI RÉGISSEUR·SE CIRQUE



PRÉSENTATION DE LA STRUCTURE

L'École Supérieure des Arts du Cirque est la seule école en Belgique qui offre une formation officielle dans le domaine. Avec plus de 20 nationalités représentées, l'ESAC est une école d'envergure internationale officiellement reconnue depuis 2003.

Les études organisées en trois ans sont sanctionnées par un diplôme de bachelier (180 crédits ECTS-Bologne) en arts du spectacle et techniques de diffusion et de communication — option Arts du cirque.

Le programme pédagogique personnalisé place l'étudiant e au centre des enseignements et favorise l'expérimentation et la créativité, grâce à des processus pédagogiques tant individuels que collectifs.

DESCRIPTION

L'ESAC est à la recherche d'un·e régisseur·se cirque pour une prise de poste au 1er septembre 2024 pour un contrat en temps plein.

L'école a pour vocation d'accompagner ses étudiant es dans le parcours artistique choisi. Son objectif est de former un e artiste auteurice créateurice et interprète qui pourra s'inscrire dans la démarche évolutive du cirque contemporain et contribuer au développement de cet art.

Pour cela, tout au long de leur parcours, iels devront développer un projet personnel dans leur spécialité, ainsi que se confronter au processus de création en collectif et sous les directives d'un e metteureuse en scène.

Partenaire de longue date avec Les Halles de Schaerbeek, les représentations collectives et personnelles (EXIT) des étudiant es en dernière année y sont présentées. Les autres présentations publiques ont lieu dans les locaux de l'école.

FONCTION

En tant que régisseur se cirque de l'ESAC, vous travaillez sous l'autorité du directeur technique, et dans le respect des exigences de sécurité aux tâches suivantes :

- L'installation des différents postes de travail acrobatiques/aériens, ainsi qu'à leurs contrôles réguliers. Réalisation de travaux en hauteur et encadrement des étudiant·es.
- La prise en charge d'une partie de l'organisation et de la planification d'activités telles que les ateliers de recherche, les spectacles et divers événements, aussi bien dans l'école qu'à l'extérieur.

- L'accompagnement des étudiant·es, des professeur·es et des différents intervenants durant les cours pratiques, les projets personnels et les ateliers de recherche.
- La participation à l'évaluation des risques.
- La gestion du stock de matériel, participation au rangement, à l'entretien et à l'inventaire du matériel.
- La gestion des commandes.

PROFIL RECHERCHÉ

Qualifications requises :

- Vous justifiez d'expérience et de compétences en tant que régisseur se cirque, rigger, travailleur se acrobatique.
- Vous avez quelques familiarités avec les régies son et lumières.
- Autres habilitations souhaitées : électriques, nacelles, travail en hauteur...
- Vous avez de bonnes connaissances de l'outil informatique et êtes à l'aise dans la communication écrite.
- Vous avez une bonne condition physique.
- Vous pouvez faire preuve de souplesse horaire, en soirée et en week-end, pour les activités publiques qui s'y déroulent.
- Vous avez l'esprit d'équipe, de bonnes qualités relationnelles sont indispensables !
- Langue : Français (+ néerlandais + anglais + espagnol : un atout)
- Permis de conduire B

CONDITIONS DU POSTE

Prise de poste

La prise de poste débute le 1er septembre 2024.

• Temps de travail

Contrat de l'enseignement public COCOF - CDD 1 an renouvelable - Temps plein.

Rémunération

Rémunération barèmes 501 en fonction des diplômes et expérience (maximum 6 années d'ancienneté reconnues).

Lieu de travail

Ecole supérieure des arts du cirque // ESAC Campus du Ceria bât. 8B Avenue Emile Gryzon, 1 – 1070 Bruxelles BELGIQUE

CANDIDATURE

Envoyez une lettre de motivation et votre CV à Anne Boudot : <u>anne.boudot@esac.be</u>.

Calendrier de recrutement

- Le dépôt de candidatures est ouvert jusqu'au 15 mai 2024 inclus.
- Les entretiens se dérouleront à partir du mois de juin.

Informations complémentaires

Pour toutes questions ou informations complémentaires, vous pouvez joindre Jean-François KELLER : <u>bureautechnique@esac.be</u>.

APPENDIX V – EU COMMISSION OCCUPATION CODE 7215.2.3 HIGH RIGGER

high rigger

Download 🗸

Craft and related trades workers > Metal, machinery and related trades workers > Sheet and structural metal workers, moulders and welders, and related workers > Riggers and cable splicers > rigger > high rigger

Description

Code

7215.2.3

Description

High riggers assemble and hoist temporary suspension structures on heights to support performance equipment. Their work is based on instruction, plans and calculations. Their job can include rope access, working above colleagues, assemble constructions to lift performers and lifting heavy loads, which makes it a high risk occupation. They work indoor as well as outdoor. They cooperate with ground riggers to unload and assemble constructions on ground level.

Scope note

Includes circus rigging. Includes similar activities in event and rental companies. Excludes riggers who are not qualified to work at heights. Excludes industrial rigging.

Alternative Labels



high rigger

Regulatory Aspect

To see if and how this occupation is regulated in EU Member States, EEA countries or Switzerland please consult the Regulated Professions Database of the Commission. Regulated Professions Database:

http://ec.europa.eu/growth/single-market/services/free-movement-professionals/qualifications-recognition_en

Skills & Competences

Essential Skills and Competences						
assemble performance equipment assemble truss constructions						
evacuate people from heights follow safety procedures when working at heights						
hang chain hoists maintain rigging equipment organise resources for artistic production						
promote health and safety provide first aid provide power distribution						
react to emergency situations in a live performance environment						
store performance equipment use communication equipment						
use personal protection equipment use rope access techniques						
use technical documentation work ergonomically work safely with machines						
work safely with mobile electrical systems under supervision work with respect for own safety						
write risk assessment on performing arts production						

Optional Skills and Competences

assemble circus rigging equipment calculate rigging plots					
define rigging needs for circus acts design rigging plots develop professional network					
document safety actions ensure safety of mobile electrical systems					
keep personal administration maintain chain hoists maintain circus rigging equipment					
manage personal professional development manage technical resources stock					
operate forklift operate telehandler perform regular checks on rigging equipment					
plot rigging movements					

Concept URI

Concept Uri

http://data.europa.eu/esco/occupation/19cb84ca-952e-4f33-b31a-c918db074a6e



STOCKHOLM STOCKHOLMS UNIVERSITY KONSTNÄRLIGA OF THE ARTS HÖGSKOLA



Co-funded by <u>the European</u> Union

Funded by the European Union. Views and opinions expressed are however those of the author(s) only and do not necessarily reflect those of the European Union or the European Education and Culture Executive Agency (EACEA). Neither the European Union nor EACEA can be held responsible for them.

> FEDEC Rue du Meiboom 18, 1000 Brussels Belgium <u>riggers@fedec.eu</u> · <u>www.fedec.eu</u>

© ALL RIGHTS RESERVED - FEDEC APRIL 2023